The Epistle of James

Lesson 1

Introduction to James

Manuscript



© 2015 by Third Millennium Ministries

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means for profit, except in brief quotations for the purposes of review, comment, or scholarship, without written permission from the publisher, Third Millennium Ministries, Inc., 316 Live Oaks Blvd., Casselberry, Florida 32707.

Unless otherwise indicated, all Scripture quotations are from the HOLY BIBLE, NEW INTERNATIONAL VERSION. Copyright © 1973, 1978, 1984, 2011 International Bible Society. Used by Permission of Zondervan Bible Publishers.

ABOUT THIRDMILL

Founded in 1997, Thirdmill is a non-profit Evangelical Christian ministry dedicated to providing:

Biblical Education. For the World. For Free.

Our goal is to offer free Christian education to millions of pastors and Christian leaders worldwide who lack sufficient training for ministry. We are meeting this goal by producing and globally distributing an unparalleled multimedia seminary curriculum in English, Arabic, Chinese, Russian, and Spanish. Our partner ministries are also translating our curriculum into more than 20 additional languages. Consisting of graphic-driven videos, printed instruction, and internet resources, Thirdmill curriculum is designed to be used by schools, groups, and individuals, both online and in local learning communities. We also offer free, structured, certified biblical and theological training in multiple languages through our Thirdmill Institute.

Over the years, we have developed a highly cost-effective method of producing multimedia lessons of the finest content and quality. Our graphic designers, illustrators, and producers adhere to the highest production standards and use state-of-the-art equipment and techniques. Our writers and editors are theologically trained educators, our translators are theologically astute native speakers of their target languages, and our lessons contain the insights of hundreds of respected seminary professors and pastors from around the world.

In order to accomplish our distribution goals, Thirdmill has forged strategic partnerships with churches, seminaries, Bible schools, missionaries, Christian broadcasters, satellite television providers, and other organizations. These relationships have already resulted in the distribution of millions of video lessons to indigenous leaders, pastors, and seminary students. Our websites also serve as avenues of distribution and provide additional materials to supplement our lessons, including audio sermons, lectures, electronic books, and materials on how to start your own learning community.

Thirdmill is recognized by the IRS as a 501(c)(3) corporation. We depend on the generous, tax-deductible contributions of churches, foundations, businesses, and individuals. For more information about our ministry, and to learn how you can get involved, please visit www.thirdmill.org.

The Epistle of James

Lesson One

Introduction to James

Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND1	ĺ
Authorship1	ĺ
Traditional Outlook2	2
Personal History4	1
Original Audience5	5
Occasion6	ó
Location7	7
Date7	7
Purpose8	3
STRUCTURE & CONTENT)
Greeting (1:1)	
Wisdom and Ohodismas (1:10, 2:26)	
Wisdom and Obedience (1:19-2:26)	
Action (1:19-27)	
Favoritism (2:1-13)	
Faith (2:14-26)	
Wisdom and Peace (3:1-4:12)	
Tongue (3:1-12)	
Two Kinds of Wisdom (3:13-18)	
Inward Conflict (4:1-12)	
Wisdom and the Future (4:13-5:12)	
Hoarding Wealth (5:1-6)	
Waiting Patiently (5:7-12)	
Wisdom and Prayer (5:13-18)	
Concluding Exhortation (3.13-20)22	_
CONCLUSION22	2
CONTRIBUTORS23	3
GLOSSARY 24	1

The Epistle of James

Lesson One

Introduction to James

INTRODUCTION

Imagine, for a moment, growing up with a close sibling or friend. You play together, learn together and reach adulthood together. For most of your life, this person has been by your side and then one day, your friend or sibling claims to be God's "Chosen One." Well, for James, the brother of Jesus, this wasn't just an imaginary scenario. In his younger years, he doubted that Jesus was the Savior. But later in his life, he not only became a follower of Jesus; he became the leader of the church at Jerusalem and wrote the New Testament book that bears his name.

This is the first lesson in our series on *The Epistle of James*, and we've entitled it "Introduction to James." In this lesson, we'll touch on a number of introductory issues that will enable us to pursue a faithful interpretation of this portion of the New Testament.

We'll approach our "Introduction to James" in two ways. First, we'll explore the background of the book. And second, we'll examine its structure and content. Let's begin with the background of the book of James.

BACKGROUND

With any biblical book, it's important to understand the context surrounding its writing as much as possible. The various books of the Bible were written in real historical settings by people with particular motivations and concerns. So, studying these kinds of background issues can help us understand the books themselves. When we consider the settings and motivations associated with the book of James, we're better equipped to understand what the epistle meant when it was first written. And we can apply James' words more effectively to our lives today.

To understand the background of James, we'll consider first the authorship of the book. Then we'll look at the original audience. And finally, we'll examine the occasion on which the letter of James was written. Let's begin with the authorship of the epistle of James.

AUTHORSHIP

Although we know that the Holy Spirit inspired the Scriptures, many books in the Bible, like James, also identify their human authors. And the more we know about biblical authors, then the better prepared we are to understand and interpret what they wrote. So, for this reason, we must learn all we can about who wrote the epistle of James.

To investigate the authorship of James, we'll consider two subjects. First, we'll explore the traditional outlook that James, the younger brother of Jesus, wrote the epistle. Second, we'll explore the author's personal history. Let's start by looking at the traditional outlook on these matters.

Traditional Outlook

The letter opens, in James 1:1, with this simple statement:

James, a servant of God and of the Lord Jesus Christ, To the twelve tribes scattered among the nations: Greetings (James 1:1).

As we see here, the letter clearly identifies a man named "James" as the author. But this greeting doesn't settle precisely who this man was. Five different men in the New Testament, including two of Jesus' twelve disciples, were named James. But only two of these five men would have had enough authority in the early church to write a letter like this.

The first of these two was James, the son of Zebedee and the brother of John. But according to Acts 12:2, this James was martyred under Herod Agrippa I around A.D. 44. As we'll see later, there are good reasons for believing that the book of James was written after Herod's death. So, it's highly unlikely that James, the son of Zebedee, was the author. The second James was the younger brother of Jesus. He was also the leader of the early church in Jerusalem. This James was, by far, the more prominent of the two and the one most theologians have attributed the epistle to through the centuries.

There is a great deal of support for the traditional outlook that Jesus' brother James wrote this epistle. But there are also a few objections. Let's begin with the support for this view.

Support. In the first place, in 1:1, the writer didn't give any credentials beyond saying that he was "a servant of God and of the Lord Jesus Christ." He simply assumed that his name alone would be recognized and would carry sufficient authority. And based on this authority, his letter contains one strong command after another. This opening greeting, then, makes a strong case for Jesus' brother James because of his status in the early church in Jerusalem.

Well, in the days of the apostolic church, the whole question of authority was very significant. Who has the authority to teach and lead this new community of followers of Jesus Christ? There were various writings that were circulating, various claims to have authority, and one of the criteria that emerged that was very significant was that of being an eyewitness to the ministry of Jesus, those who were eyewitnesses of his ministry, who spent the time with the Lord himself were considered to have a righteous claim to the

authority to teach in the early church. Now, James, the brother of Jesus, of course, was an eyewitness to his ministry, but more than that, had been an eyewitness really to the whole of his life, and that did play a significant role in the weight that the teaching of James and the weight that James' letter was given in the early church.

— Rev. Dr. Michael Walker

In the second place, the testimony of the early church confirms this outlook on the authorship of the book. *The First Epistle of Clement*, written around A.D. 96, and the *Shepherd of Hermas*, written around A.D. 140, both either refer to or quote from James' epistle. And Origen, who died in A.D. 254, quoted the book of James several times in his *Commentary on the Epistle to the Romans*. Origen's use of James is particularly significant because in Book 4, Chapter 8, Origen identified the author of James as "the brother of the Lord." We also know that the church in the East, and later the church in the West, accepted this letter as the work of Jesus' brother.

Now, despite this strong support for the traditional outlook that Jesus' brother James was the author, there have been some objections.

Objections. Critical interpreters have suggested at least two alternatives. Some interpreters have looked for an unknown James in the early church. They say that the person who wrote the letter was indeed named James, but he wasn't the son of Zebedee or the brother of Jesus. He remains obscure because he wasn't mentioned in any other writings of the infant church. However, this theory is unlikely. As we've already noted, the simplicity of the author's identification at the beginning of the letter indicates that he was well known. It's highly doubtful that there would have been nothing else written about him.

A second theory offered by critical interpreters is that of pseudonymity. Pseudonymity refers to the practice of assigning written works to someone other than the actual author. This practice took place among Jews in the first century for a variety of reasons. One prominent reason for pseudonymity was to give weight or authority to a book or letter. In the case of James' epistle, critical interpreters have argued that someone other than James used his name to gain wider acceptance for their letter in the church. Now, according to passages like 2 Thessalonians 2:2, this practice was scorned in the first century church as deceit. But critical scholars still offer at least three arguments for this objection.

First, they say, there is no mention of the author's relation to Jesus. They say it's unthinkable that a brother of Jesus would write to the churches and not reveal this familial bond when he identified himself. But Jude, the author of the epistle of Jude, was also Jesus' brother. And he never mentioned his blood-ties to Jesus in his letter. So, this argument for pseudonymity is weak at best.

Second, some critical scholars assume pseudonymity because the book gives evidence that the author was aware of Hellenistic — or Greek — culture, and James was a Jew from Palestine. It's true that the writer of James had some awareness of Greek

culture. For instance, in James 3:6, he used the phrase "the whole course of one's life." This phrase was commonly used in Greek philosophy and religion. But at the time James' letter was written, many well-educated Jews in Palestine had more than a passing knowledge of Hellenistic philosophy and religion.

In addition, while the Greek of James is more sophisticated than what we find in other portions of the New Testament, it isn't, by any means, the most sophisticated Greek in the New Testament. In fact, the letter is quite similar in style to books such as *Testaments of the Twelve Patriarchs* and other Hellenistic Jewish writings of that time.

A third argument for pseudonymity points to inconsistencies with the theological portrait of James in the books of Acts and Galatians. This view suggests that some of the ideas expressed in the epistle of James don't match theological outlooks attributed to James in these other New Testament books. For instance, critical interpreters point to passages like Acts 21:17-25 and Galatians 2:12. They argue that, in these verses, James appears to be a spokesman for a rather conservative Jewish-Christian position on the law. But in James 1:25 and James 2:12, the author seems to take a somewhat lenient view of the law, calling it the "law that gives freedom."

But these differences simply are not as great as critical scholars make them out to be. On closer review, the verses cited in Acts and Galatians don't portray an extreme Jewish-Christian point of view. And James' position on the law in Acts and Galatians is, actually, very consistent with the theology of the letter of James.

As we can see, the arguments against James, the brother of Jesus, being the author of this book are weak at best. The arguments in favor of James' authorship are much more compelling. And because of this, most evangelical scholars rightly affirm that James, the brother of Jesus, was the author of the letter that bears his name.

We've considered the authorship of James by looking at the traditional outlook. Now, let's look more closely at James' personal history.

Personal History

Matthew 13:55 identifies James as one of Mary's sons and one of Jesus' half-brothers. This family connection may account for the many similarities between James' epistle and Jesus' teachings recorded in the Gospels. But Scripture makes it clear that when James and his other brothers were growing up, they didn't recognize who their oldest sibling really was. As John 7:5 tells us:

Even [Jesus'] own brothers did not believe in him (John 7:5).

But, at some point in his life, James came to have saving faith in Jesus as his Lord. In fact, James rose to such prominence in the early church that Paul called him, in Galatians 2:9, one of the "pillars" of the church. In addition, we know that, according to 1 Corinthians 15:7, Jesus appeared to James after his resurrection.

James' position of authority is well documented in the New Testament. For instance, he appears three times in the book of Acts as the leader of the Jerusalem church.

And in Acts 15, we see him as the spokesman for the apostolic council. Even non-Christians acknowledged James' importance in the church. One of the most well-known accounts of James' violent death in A.D. 62 comes from the Jewish historian Josephus. Listen to *Antiquities*, Book 20, Chapter 9, section 1, written in A.D. 93, where Josephus described the circumstances surrounding James' death:

[Ananus] convened the judges of the Sanhedrin, and brought before them the brother of Jesus, the one called Christ, whose name was James, and certain others, and accusing them of having transgressed the law delivered them up to be stoned.

While growing up, James may not have understood who his older brother really was. But, we can see from Josephus' account, and from Scripture and other historical records, that later in his adult life, James had an unwavering commitment to Jesus as the Christ. As Eusebius wrote in his *Ecclesiastical History*, Book 2, chapter 23, quoting the early Christian historian Hegesippus:

[James] became a true witness, both to Jews and Greeks, that Jesus is the Christ.

Now that we've considered the background of James' epistle by looking at some of the issues surrounding authorship, let's explore the original audience of this letter.

ORIGINAL AUDIENCE

Theologians often spend a great deal of time and energy trying to learn as much as possible about the author of a particular biblical book. But discovering the identity of the original audience is just as important. If we want to interpret correctly what a biblical writer was saying, it helps us to know who the writer's original readers were and what they were facing at that particular time in history. As we saw earlier, in James 1:1, James identified his readers as:

The twelve tribes scattered among the nations (James 1:1).

This seems to be a reference to Jews who lived outside of Israel. And, in 2:1, James addressed his audience as:

Believers in our glorious Lord Jesus Christ (James 2:1).

Taken together, these verses indicate that James' original audience was made up, primarily, of Jewish Christians who lived outside of Palestine.

On several occasions in his book, James addressed his audience affectionately as "brothers." But how did James, living in Jerusalem, know his audience well enough to

speak to them in this way? Well, in Acts 8:1-4 we learn that, in the wave of persecution following Stephen's martyrdom, members of the Jerusalem church were scattered throughout Judea and Samaria. It's possible then that James, as the leader of the Jerusalem church, was writing to these scattered members of "the twelve tribes." But, even if the epistle wasn't addressed specifically to these believers, it seems that James audience was made up of Jewish Christians in similar circumstances.

The vocabulary James used also supports the idea that his original readers were Jewish followers of Jesus. For example, in 2:2, James chose the word $sunagog\bar{e}$ (συναγωγη) or "synagogue" to describe his audience's meetings. This was a typical way to refer to Jewish gatherings. And in 5:4 James used the phrase "Lord Almighty," or $kurios\ sabaoth\ (Κυρίου\ Σαβαὼθ)$. This phrase comes from a common Old Testament name for the God of Israel, $Yahweh\ tsaba\bar{o}t\ ($ יְהֹנֶה צְּבָאֹוֹת). Language of this kind makes much more sense if the recipients have strong Jewish roots.

Knowing the background of James' audience is extremely important because it helps us set a trajectory as to how we understand the message that he's trying to articulate to his audience... James' audience, as a Jewish community, are recipients of a long tradition of the Torah of Moses, the message of the prophets and the writings... James draws on this rich tradition as he talks to them about the life of faith, the wise life. And they need to understand how they should apply it into their own lives in light of the resurrection of Jesus Christ.

— Dr. Scott Redd

Now, when we say that James was writing to Jewish Christians, we don't mean that there were no Gentile believers in the churches James addressed. As early as Acts 8 we know of an Ethiopian convert. And, as we learn in Acts 10, there were many Gentile, God-fearing converts to Judaism who attended synagogues. So, it wouldn't have been surprising to find at least some Gentile believers in these churches as well. Still, according to Romans 9:8, Gentile believers were regarded as "Abraham's offspring." And, ideally, they were considered just as much a part of the twelve tribes of Israel as any who were Jews by bloodline.

We've looked at the background of James by considering the epistle's authorship and its original audience. Now, we're ready to examine the occasion of its writing.

OCCASION

We'll explore the occasion of the writing of James in three steps. First, we'll touch on the location of both the author and audience. Second, we'll consider the date of composition. Third, we'll think about the purpose of James' epistle. Let's begin by looking at the location of both the author and the audience of this letter.

Location

The location of the author isn't difficult to discern. Both the New Testament and early church fathers suggest that James lived his life of ministry in Jerusalem. And he remained in Jerusalem until he was martyred in A.D. 62. Because of this, there's no reason to think that he wrote the epistle from any other location.

The location of the original audience is also somewhat straightforward. As we just mentioned, the letter's recipients were most likely Jewish believers who had been scattered throughout Judea and Samaria after the murder of Stephen. Acts 11:19 tells us that these displaced believers traveled as far as Phoenicia, Antioch and Cyprus in search of a safe place to live. We can't be positive that James wrote to believers in these specific locations. Yet, based on James' initial greeting to the "twelve tribes scattered among the nations," these areas are strong possibilities for the location of James' original audience.

We really think that these are truly dispersed tribes. That is, the parishioners of Jerusalem who were scattered into Phoenicia and Cyprus and Antioch by the persecution after Stephen's martyrdom, that it's quite possible, in fact, I think it likely, that James was writing to these folks as his own parishioners. And the reason I think that is that he, surprisingly, gives us no theology or virtually none overtly; he doesn't talk in terms of the structure of the gospel. There are quite a few things that he doesn't mention, and as a pastor, I'm thinking, well, he probably covered those things earlier in his ministry, and now he's speaking to his well-known audience in the way that a pastor would... And so, it has great affect on our sense of James, that we look at this audience scattered, this audience already under his ministry, and see him building in that way.

— Dr. Michael Kennison

Keeping in mind this first aspect of the occasion of James' epistle — the location of the author and audience — now, let's consider the date of the letter's composition.

Date

The earliest and latest likely dates for this letter are fairly easy to establish. First, the earliest likely date for the letter's composition is A.D. 44. We know that James wrote his epistle as the leader of the early church in Jerusalem. Acts 12:17 indicates that James became a significant leader of the Jerusalem church by the time of Peter's release from prison. According to Acts 12:19-23, Peter was released in the year Herod Agrippa I died in A.D. 44. This makes it most likely that the epistle was not written much before this date.

Second, the latest possible date of composition for the epistle is A.D. 62, the year of James' martyrdom. As we saw earlier, according to Josephus, James died at the hands of the priest Ananus near this time. This provides a brief window for the letter's composition.

The letter itself doesn't include specific references to historical events that would date it more specifically. But there are at least two reasons to think that the date of composition was earlier, rather than later.

For one, as we mentioned before, in 2:2, James used the word $sunagog\bar{e}$ ($\sigma\upsilon\nu\alpha\gamma\omega\gamma\eta$), or "synagogue," to describe his audience's meetings. The use of "synagogue" seems to indicate an early stage in the development of the Christian movement. James may have written before Christians were forced out of the synagogues. Or, at the very least, he wrote at a time when Christians were still calling their gatherings a "synagogue."

In addition, there's no mention in James' epistle of the Jewish-Gentile controversies that received so much attention in the writings of Peter and Paul.

In the early church, as Gentiles came to faith in Christ in large numbers, conflicts arose over whether or not these new believers should be required to conform to Jewish customs. Perhaps James simply chose not to deal with these controversies. But more likely, they hadn't yet become a major factor in the life of the young churches that James addressed.

Having looked at the letter's occasion both in its location and its date, let's examine James' purpose in writing this letter.

Purpose

One of the most helpful ways to summarize the overarching purpose of James is to look at James 1:2-4. In his opening words, James told his readers:

Consider it pure joy, my brothers and sisters, whenever you face trials of many kinds, because you know that the testing of your faith produces perseverance. Let perseverance finish its work so that you may be mature and complete, not lacking anything (James 1:2-4).

As this passage indicates, James' audience was facing trials of many kinds. But James called them to have pure joy in their trials. Trials, he explained, produce perseverance. And those who persevere will become "mature and complete, not lacking anything." But the real key to James' message comes in the very next verse. In verse 5, James completed his thought with these words:

If any of you lacks wisdom, you should ask God, who gives generously to all without finding fault, and it will be given to you (James 1:5).

We'll discuss these verses in more detail later in the lesson. But for now, this passage gives us a window into the heart of the entire epistle. To experience pure joy in the midst of trials, "ask God" for wisdom, and "it will be given to you." With this in mind, we can summarize the main purpose of James' letter in this way:

James called his audience to pursue wisdom from God so that they would have joy in their trials.

It was important for James' audience to hear this message. As we said earlier, James' audience was no longer in Palestine. They were living "scattered among the nations," far from their homes. No doubt, it wasn't easy for them to find joy in their trials. This appears to have led some of them to abandon their loyalty to Christ. Instead, they were pursuing what James called "friendship with the world." Listen to James 4:4 where James used these strong words:

You adulterous people, don't you know that friendship with the world is hatred toward God? Anyone who chooses to be a friend of the world becomes an enemy of God (James 4:4).

Clearly, there were some in James' audience who had strayed far from the faith. And James warned them that being friends with the world made them "an enemy of God."

It's no wonder then that James exerted his authority as a leader of the church. Repeatedly, James commanded his readers to live in a manner consistent with a sincere profession of faith. He used more than 50 imperatives, or direct commands, in his 108 verses. And he often used other grammatical forms that functioned just like imperatives within their contexts.

But James' principal solution to the problems his audience faced was not merely to command them to do this or that. For him, the heart of the matter was that they needed to pursue wisdom from God. Wisdom from God was the key to receiving joy as they endured their many trials. Listen to these well-known words of 4:8-10 where James told his readers:

Come near to God and he will come near to you... Humble yourselves before the Lord, and he will lift you up (James 4:8-10).

James directed believers to humble [them]selves so that God would lift [them] up. He taught that humility before God is a path to wisdom. And when Christ's followers draw near to God in humble submission, the wisdom they receive brings joy, even as they persevere through trials.

So far in our *Introduction to James*, we've looked at the background of James. Now we're ready to examine the epistle's structure and content.

STRUCTURE & CONTENT

We've just suggested that the book of James focuses a great deal of attention on wisdom as the way to find joy in times of trial. But this emphasis on wisdom helps us understand something more than just the purpose of this book. Many interpreters have spoken of the book of James as the New Testament book of wisdom. And this perspective also helps us grasp the unusual structure and content of the epistle.

By the time James wrote his letter, there had been a long history of wisdom literature stemming from the Old Testament. Old Testament wisdom writings include Job and Ecclesiastes, as well as the book of Proverbs and a number of so-called wisdom psalms and prophetic wisdom sayings. James' indebtedness to this Old Testament literature is evident in a number of ways. For instance, in 5:11, James used the example of Job, the main character in the book of Job, to promote perseverance. Beyond this, James touched on topics such as speech, the treatment of widows and orphans, poverty, and favoritism. These topics reflect numerous parallels with the content of the book of Proverbs.

When we read through the epistle of James, one of the things that we see as a common thread is the word "wisdom." He obviously values greatly wisdom — the wisdom from above as opposed to the wisdom from below. And that very value in wisdom and the structure of the epistle makes us think that there's a great influence in his life on wisdom literature that's come before him. Now, I think we see that most explicitly in his citation and use of the book of Proverbs, and also in the way that he remembers the words of our Lord, of Jesus, who also spoke often in a wisdom context... Alongside that, there was a development of wisdom thought and wisdom writing, a genre, really, of wisdom writing, in the intertestamental time. And I think we see some of the same themes through that wisdom literature in James. Occasionally we see the same structure. But I think a lot of the themes also were really started with the book of Proverbs and also with Jesus, and so I think the bigger influence on James is probably going to come out of Jesus and Proverbs. But that genre and the importance of proverbial wisdom throughout Second Temple Judaism, around the time of Jesus, is also very important in James.

— Dr. David W. Chapman

The letter of James also reflects the content of influential wisdom books outside of Scripture like *The Wisdom of Sirach*, also known simply as Sirach, and *The Wisdom of Solomon*. These books were well known in James' day, and there are striking parallels to both in his letter. As just one example, in 1:26 from Sirach, we read:

If you desire wisdom, keep the commandments, and the Lord will bestow it on you.

And James 1:5 tells us:

If any of you lacks wisdom, let him ask God, who gives generously to all without reproach, and it will be given him (James 1:5).

In addition to these types of wisdom literature, much of Jesus' instruction recorded in the Gospels is characteristic of wisdom teaching in Israel. And interpreters have noted a number of similarities between James' writing and Jesus' instruction. Consider, for instance, Matthew 5:10, where Jesus said:

Blessed are those who are persecuted because of righteousness, for theirs is the kingdom of heaven (Matthew 5:10).

Compare this with James 1:12, where James wrote:

Blessed is the man who perseveres under trial, because when he has stood the test, he will receive the crown of life that God has promised to those who love him (James 1:12).

The wisdom literature of Judaism in the first century and a little bit before then had a considerable influence on James, especially in terms of the cultural and literary milieu that he was working with. In fact, there are dozens of allusions and parallels between James and other literature both in the Old Testament and in other Jewish literature. You know that James quotes from Proverbs twice, at least once and probably twice, and he has many allusions particularly to the wisdom of Jesus Ben Sirach, a work that was written in, about a century before the time of the New Testament... But there is one thing that is unique to James in terms of wisdom, and that is, he links his wisdom very closely with the teaching of Jesus... James is probably one of the most colorful illustrators in the New Testament with depictions of ships being guided by little rudders, and farmers that are patiently waiting, and merchants that are travelling. There's many, many illustrations. That's all wisdom influence. But the content of James is really carrying forward the way in which Jesus presents the kingdom and the way the presence of the kingdom changes your life.

— Dr. Dan McCartney

Because of James' close ties to wisdom literature, the structure of the epistle is quite different from what we might expect. Even a brief look at this letter tells us that its organization isn't simple. In fact, from our modern point of view, it can seem quite disorganized. Much like the book of Proverbs, the book of James deals with a variety of important themes. And it often spends only a few verses on one theme before moving on to another. Occasionally, it returns to one or more of its themes later in the letter, but not with any consistency. Some commentators have even concluded that there is no structure to James. They've suggested that it's only a collection of wisdom sayings with no real order or flow of thought.

But we have to be careful here. This letter isn't just a chaotic jumble of unrelated verses thrown together without any order at all. Although the book of James resembles wisdom literature in both form and content, it also differs from that genre in a variety of ways. Unlike other wisdom literature, James is a letter written to specific churches. And for this reason, it does reflect some of the organizational features of other New Testament epistles.

There's little agreement among interpreters on the organization or structure of James. But for the purposes of this lesson, we've divided the book into seven sections.

- The epistle opens with James' greeting in James 1:1.
- The first major division is an introduction to the main themes of the book that we might call wisdom and joy in James 1:2-18.
- The second major division expresses James' concern for wisdom and obedience in James 1:19–2:26.
- The third major division deals with wisdom and peace in the Christian community in James 3:1–4:12.
- The fourth major division focuses on wisdom and the future in James 4:13–5:12.
- The fifth and final major division is devoted to what we may describe as wisdom and prayer in James 5:13-18.
- After these five major divisions there is a concluding exhortation in 5:19 and 20.

Let's take a closer look at each of these divisions, beginning with the greeting in James 1:1.

GREETING (1:1)

Listen again to 1:1, James' short salutation:

James, a servant of God and of the Lord Jesus Christ, To the twelve tribes scattered among the nations: Greetings (James 1:1).

We shouldn't miss how James described himself here. He called himself "a servant of God and of the Lord Jesus Christ." James could have introduced himself as the leader of the church, or even as the brother of Jesus. Instead, he chose to make the point that he was the servant of God and Christ. This dual reference may be James' personal

statement of humility, a theme he touches on later in the book. Here he exemplified that humility by making it clear that he was the servant of his brother, Jesus.

Following the greeting, the first major division centers on what we've called wisdom and joy.

WISDOM AND JOY (1:2-18)

James wrote his letter to Christians who'd been driven out of Jerusalem and were scattered around the Mediterranean world. They were facing different kinds of trials that no doubt discouraged them. And for this reason, James' first words about the importance of wisdom began with a call to joy. Listen again to James 1:2 where James told his audience:

Consider it pure joy, my brothers and sisters, whenever you face trials of many kinds (James 1:2).

This passage may seem odd to us, especially because it addresses people who were facing "trials of many kinds." But James' appeal to consider trials "pure joy" is not as unusual as we might think.

The phrase "pure joy" comes from the Greek expression *pasan charan* (πᾶσαν χαρὰν) that may be translated "complete, unmitigated joy." This kind of encouragement fits well with other wisdom literature of James' day. Many times, wisdom writings encouraged those who suffered to consider themselves blessed. Jesus, for instance, closed the beatitudes in Matthew 5:12 with the call to "rejoice and be glad" in the face of persecution.

As we said earlier, in 1:3-4, James taught that perseverance through trials makes it possible for believers to be "mature and complete." In other words, when God's people endure hardship, they grow into the fullness of all that God intends for them. But in reality, it's often difficult for even the most sincere believer to see how this is true in the midst of suffering. This is why, in the very next verse, James told his readers to pursue wisdom from God. You'll recall that James 1:5 says:

If any of you lacks wisdom, you should ask God, who gives generously to all (James 1:5).

Those who want to have pure joy as they suffer trials must ask God for insight. They need wisdom to help them understand how their trials lead to their betterment. And if we ask for this kind of wisdom from God, he will give it to us. As James went on to say in 1:17, God gives good and perfect gifts to his people. James closed this section in 1:18 with this reassurance:

[God] chose to give us birth through the word of truth, that we might be a kind of firstfruits of all he created (James 1:18).

When we receive the wisdom to understand how God works through trials, we can be joyful. Wisdom strengthens our confidence that God has ordained for us the blessing of eternal salvation.

After his discussion on wisdom and joy, James moved to the relationship between wisdom and obedience.

WISDOM AND OBEDIENCE (1:19-2:26)

In this section, James discussed wisdom and obedience in three basic steps. To begin with, 1:19-27 introduces the importance of taking action rather than just listening or talking.

Action (1:19-27)

In 1:22 we read this:

Do not merely listen to the word, and so deceive yourselves. Do what it says (James 1:22).

To hear the word is simply not good enough. The word of wisdom from God must also lead to faithful obedience. Otherwise, we are deceiving ourselves.

When you read James' letter you understand that he's really emphasizing the need to put into practice the things that we say we believe. It's a very prominent theme throughout the whole epistle. We need to ask the question, why is James emphasizing that? And the first answer seems to be, James lives in the real world, he ministers to real people, and the world in which we live is a world where talk is cheap, where it's very easy to say we believe in God and much harder to follow through on what that belief might look like in action. This seems to have been a challenge not just for James but also for Jesus... Talking is not the same as doing. Jesus knows that. James knows that. They were trying to reach real people in a real world with a real problem.

— Dr. Jimmy Agan

James expected his readers to do more than just hear God's word. He expected them to put their faith into action. This theme was so important to James that, although he mainly discussed it in chapters 1 and 2, he returned to it periodically throughout his

epistle. For instance, in 3:13, James' basic perspective on the relationship between wisdom and obedience appears again. James wrote:

Who is wise and understanding among you? Let them show it by their good life, by deeds done in the humility that comes from wisdom (James 3:13).

As this verse indicates, wisdom and understanding of God's purposes in trials and suffering is no mere intellectual matter. Those who have it will show it by their good life, by deeds done in humility that comes from the wisdom that God gives.

So, in 1:27, James closed this section on the need for action by summing up true piety, or religion, in this way:

Religion that God our Father accepts as pure and faultless is this: to look after orphans and widows in their distress and to keep oneself from being polluted by the world (James 1:27).

James speaks very frankly about religion — what he calls "pure and faultless" — being this: "To look after orphans and widows in their distress, and to keep oneself from being polluted by the world." And in our culture, which is so materialistic in many ways, those are two sides of the same coin, that one of the ways in which we get polluted by the world is not caring for the poor around us, or attributing their poverty to something only within them and not looking at the systemic causes of it, or looking at ourselves, who have means, as meaning that, that means that somehow we're superior, or we have God's blessing and poor people don't, when the reality is that oftentimes what you find is the faith of the poor is stronger and more authentic than folks who haven't suffered the same things that they have.

— Rev. Dr. Thurman Williams

Following this introductory call to action, James elaborated on the connection between wisdom and obedience by focusing on the problem of favoritism in 2:1-13.

Favoritism (2:1-13)

Some people within James' audience had apparently been showing preference to the wealthy and neglecting the poor. And in this section, James addressed this problem by calling them to give proper attention to what he called "the royal law." In 2:8 James said:

If you really keep the royal law found in Scripture, "Love your neighbor

as yourself," you are doing right (James 2:8).

Essentially, neglecting the poor in favor of the rich is a failure to "love your neighbor." And James taught that they must avoid the sin of favoritism by keeping the royal law.

We see in James's teaching about the rich and their relationship to the poor, a real reflection of the Savior's teaching in Luke 16. In chapter 2 of James, he talks about how, don't you know that God has chosen the poor, those who love him, to be heirs of his kingdom... The rich are being shown partiality as they come into the Christian meetings. They're being shown deference — "You can take my seat; you can have the best seat in the assembly." And James warns those who are acting that way to remember that the poor have full standing in the kingdom of God, full inheritance rights, and therefore they should be shown dignity and respect and full membership among the people of God as well.

— Dr. Greg Perry

As we've seen, the book of James has a very positive focus on the law of God. In James' view, the law teaches us to care for one another, to have compassion on the poor, to avoid favoritism, and the like. But this positive outlook can be misused if we aren't careful. Modern Christians often point out how the law of God has been used, in vain, as a way to try and justify ourselves before God by our own righteous deeds. And we're right to reject this abuse of God's law. But, by contrast, the book of James stresses a different facet of the law. James taught that although no one can be justified by the law, the law of God is our source of wisdom. And we should live in obedience to it. Of course, we don't obey the law as if we still lived in Old Testament times; we must always apply God's law in the light of Christ and the teachings of the New Testament. But those who've trusted Christ for salvation obey the law out of gratitude to God, because it's the revelation of God's wisdom. In this sense, James echoes Psalm 19:7 where we read this:

The law of the Lord is perfect, reviving the soul. The statutes of the Lord are trustworthy, making wise the simple (Psalm 19:7).

After introducing the importance of action in response to the word of wisdom and resisting favoritism by obeying the royal law of God, James addressed the relationship between faith and obedience in 2:14-26.

Faith (2:14-26)

In 2:14, James posed this question:

What good is it, my brothers, if a man claims to have faith but has no deeds? Can such faith save him? (James 2:14).

James answered this question with a resounding "No." He did this in a number of ways. First, he pointed out that even the devil believes true things about God, but it does him no good. Then he noted how Abraham's faith led to obedience. And he described how Rahab demonstrated her faith through good works. So, in 2:26, James drew this well-known conclusion:

As the body without the spirit is dead, so faith without deeds is dead (James 2:26).

According to James, having the right beliefs is not enough. A faith that does not show itself in obedience is dead. It is not true saving faith.

After exhorting his audience to live a life of obedience, James focused his attention on the relationship between wisdom and peace among followers of Christ.

WISDOM AND PEACE (3:1-4:12)

Listen to James' question in 4:1:

What causes fights and quarrels among you? (James 4:1).

Although this verse comes in the middle of this section, in a variety of ways the entire section deals with this question.

In this section, James noted three main issues associated with wisdom and peace among believers. First, in 3:1-12, James focused on the tongue, or our use of words.

Tongue (3:1-12)

In 3:4 and 5, James compared the tongue to a ship's rudder. He explained it this way:

[Ships] are so large and are driven by strong winds, [but] they are steered by a very small rudder... Likewise the tongue is a small part of the body, but it makes great boasts (James 3:4-5).

Then in verse 6, he went further, telling his audience:

The tongue ... [is] a world of evil among the parts of the body. It corrupts the whole person, sets the whole course of his life on fire, and is itself set on fire by hell (James 3:6).

James' warning against the tongue's capacity for evil is very similar to what we find in the book of Proverbs. Proverbs also deals with the dangers associated with the tongue, or speech, a number of times. We find this in places like Proverbs 10:31; 11:12; 15:4; and many other verses. Both James and Proverbs pointed out that words can lead to all kinds of trouble among God's people. To avoid conflict and live in peace, we must control our tongues.

When we come to the book of James and we hear him say things about our speech, we are probably reminded of the words of Jesus, when he says that "out of the overflow of the heart the mouth speaks." And as James reflects on the words of Jesus and provides instructions for the church — how we are to live in the light of Christ's coming and in anticipation of his future return — one of the ways that James gives us to measure our hearts is focusing on our words. In other words, James views the words of a person, the tongue, which is shorthand for the words, as a barometer of a person's whole moral being. It gives the temperature — to put it in another way — it gives the temperature of one's heart. And so, just as Jesus says, "out of the overflow of the heart the mouth speaks," when James says that a man must bridle his tongue and it should not be that from the same mouth come blessing and curses, he's telling us that our heart must be fully committed to God. We must not be a double-minded man, but we must, in faith, hold fast to the teaching of Christ, and as we do that, our words should bless our brothers and sisters instead of cursing them.

— Dr. Brandon D. Crowe

The second issue tied to wisdom and peace, involves two kinds of wisdom. We find this in 3:13-18.

Two Kinds of Wisdom (3:13-18)

In James 3:14-17 we read these words:

If you harbor bitter envy and selfish ambition in your hearts... such "wisdom" does not come down from heaven but is earthly, unspiritual, demonic... But the wisdom that comes from heaven is first of all pure; then peace-loving, considerate, submissive, full of mercy and good fruit, impartial and sincere (James 3:14-17).

As we see here, to explain the relationship between wisdom and peace, James distinguished between earthly, even demonic, wisdom, and wisdom that comes from heaven. Earthly wisdom leads to bitter envy and selfish ambition. But wisdom from God brings peace in the Christian community.

James called for his readers to let go of their fights and quarrels. He explained that when we cling to our own selfish desires there can be no peace among us. Worldly wisdom, he taught, only leads to "disorder and every evil practice." So, James instructed his readers to rely on the wisdom that comes from God. When we do this, we find peace. As James put it in 3:18:

Peacemakers who sow in peace raise a harvest of righteousness (James 3:18).

The third issue in this section, in 4:1-12, looks at wisdom and peace in relationship to the inward conflict that followers of Christ experience.

Inward Conflict (4:1-12)

James traced strife among Christians to selfish desires, wrong motives, and discontent within us. From James' point of view, the evil desires within his audience had caused great damage in the Christian community. They were ruled by their wants. And because of this, they were fighting, and coveting, and even destroying each other. So, James sternly told them what they must do to bring peace. In 4:7-10, James said:

Submit yourselves, then, to God... Come near to God and he will come near to you... Humble yourselves before the Lord, and he will lift you up (James 4:7-10).

Only humble submission to God would put an end to their fights and quarrels and give them peace with one another.

Now, let's consider the relationship between wisdom and the future.

WISDOM AND THE FUTURE (4:13-5:12)

James' discussion of wisdom and the future can be divided into three parts. The first part is found in 4:13-17 and deals with those who were making plans for the future as if God were not in control.

Making Plans (4:13-17)

These verses indicate that many in James' audience were attempting to determine their own futures. They focused on accumulating wealth, and they bragged about what they would do and where they would go. In response to this, James reminded them that their lives were fleeting. They couldn't possibly know what their futures held. Listen to 4:15 and 16, where James told them:

You ought to say, "If it is the Lord's will, we will live and do this or that." As it is, you boast in your arrogant schemes. All such boasting is evil (James 4:15-16).

Only God controls the future and those who are wise will acknowledge this.

In the second part of this section, James gave attention to wisdom and the future in a slightly different way. In 5:1-6, he warned against hoarding wealth because of the future day of judgment.

Hoarding Wealth (5:1-6)

James spoke at great length about the treatment of the poor in many places. And he repeatedly condemned the wealthy for taking advantage of those less fortunate. In these verses, James strongly cautioned the rich who had gained wealth at the expense of the poor. And he informed them that they would soon suffer for it. As he put it in 5:3:

Your gold and silver are corroded. Their corrosion will testify against you and eat your flesh like fire. You have hoarded wealth in the last days (James 5:3).

As this passage indicates, accumulating wealth at the expense of others will bring severe judgment.

What James basically says is something that would have been mindblowing to many of the Jews who heard him. He basically reverses the understanding that many in Israel had about the relationship of rich and poor, and he actually calls the poor blessed and speaks about... He warns the rich to actually be ready to repent and to expect judgment... The basis for that judgment is these people are hoarding their wealth, which basically, if you've been blessed with wealth, God's will is that you would share this with your neighbor, use it to bless your neighbor, but they're hoarding it up for themselves. They're defrauding their workers by not paying them a fair wage... Wealth is a gift of God that is then to be used as God wills, not for yourself, but ultimately for your neighbor. In other words, every business should be guided by the principle, "Love your neighbor as yourself."

— Rev. David Lewis

The third part of James' discussion on wisdom and the future, in 5:7-12, turns to waiting patiently for God's plan for the future to unfold.

Waiting Patiently (5:7-12)

James had criticized those who'd made plans without relying on God for wisdom. And he'd warned those who'd ignored God's wisdom by hoarding wealth and abusing the poor that they would see God's judgment. But following this, James encouraged those who were suffering to wait patiently for God to bring the consummation of history to pass. Listen to 5:7 and 8 where James used this analogy:

Be patient, then, brothers and sisters, until the Lord's coming. See how the farmer waits for the land to yield its valuable crop, patiently waiting for the autumn and spring rains. You too, be patient and stand firm, because the Lord's coming is near (James 5:7-8).

As we've just pointed out, James' words in this section did more than just admonish the wealthy. They also encouraged the poor and oppressed. James' strong rebuke reminded his audience that the Day of Judgment was coming. And at that time, those who had faithfully depended on God would be rewarded. In this way, he encouraged the faithful to continue on the path of godly wisdom, living out their profession of faith, obedient to God in the light of the grand finale of God's plan for the future.

After explaining to his readers how wisdom is related to joy, to obedience, to peace and to the future, the book of James closes with a short practical application of wisdom and prayer.

WISDOM AND PRAYER (5:13-18)

James' audience was dealing with a number of issues. They'd been scattered from their homes. The rich were oppressing the poor. They were arguing and hurting one another. Many, it seems, were being ruled by their selfish desires. And they were finding it difficult to live in ways that matched their profession of faith. So, in this last section, James taught them what to do in the Christian community as they faced these struggles. Similar to what he taught at the beginning of the epistle, here James instructed them to devote themselves to prayer. In times of trouble or joy, when dealing with sickness, even sickness caused by the individual's sin, those who have wisdom will pray. Listen to 5:13 and 14 where James told his readers:

Is any one of you in trouble? He should pray. Is anyone happy? Let him sing songs of praise. Is any one of you sick? He should call the elders of the church to pray over him (James 5:13-14).

Clearly, James expected his readers to draw near to God for wisdom in every situation. The reason for this is clear enough in verse 16 where James said:

The prayer of a righteous person is powerful and effective (James 5:16).

After finishing the main body of his epistle with his call to patience and prayer in trials, James ended the letter with an exhortation.

CONCLUDING EXHORTATION (5:19-20)

In 5:19 and 20, James urged his audience to watch out for each other and bring back those who had wandered away from the truth. He reminded them that, as brothers and sisters in the community of faith, they had the obligation and privilege to lead people back to a faith that truly saves.

CONCLUSION

In this Introduction to James, we've looked at the background of the book and noted the author, the audience, and the occasion of writing. We've also explored the letter's structure and content and seen how this book serves as the New Testament book of wisdom for believers facing the discouragement of trials through joy, obedience, peace, the future and prayer.

The book of James challenged first century Christians to seek God for wisdom so that they could have joy as they endured trials. Of course, you and I live in very different circumstances than the original audience of James. But we also do face trials, and we also need wisdom from God to help us deal with those trials. Just like James' first audience, we need the pure joy that God's wisdom brings. Although, in this lesson, we've only touched on what this book offers, one thing should be clear: The epistle of James charts a path for wise living in every age. And the more we apply this book to our own lives, the more we'll receive the blessing of pure joy that God offers his people, no matter what trials or difficulties we may face.

CONTRIBUTORS

Dr. Paul Gardner (Host) is Senior Pastor at ChristChurch Presbyterian in Atlanta, Georgia. Dr. Gardner formerly served as lecturer of New Testament at Oak Hill Theological College in London and as Archdeacon of Exeter in the Church of England (2003-2005). He is the author of several books and commentaries including *Revelation: The Passion and Protection of Christ; Ephesians: Encouragement and Joy in Christ;* and 1 & 2 Peter & Jude: Christians Living in an Age of Suffering.

Dr. Jimmy Agan is Associate Professor of New Testament and Director of Homiletics at Covenant Theological Seminary.

Dr. David W. Chapman is Associate Professor of New Testament and Archaeology at Covenant Theological Seminary.

Dr. Brandon D. Crowe is Assistant Professor of New Testament at Westminster Theological Seminary.

Dr. Michael Kennison is Associate Pastor for Care at The Kirk of the Hills in St. Louis, MO.

Rev. David Lewis is Assistant Professor of Exegetical Theology at Concordia Seminary.

Dr. Dan McCartney was formerly Professor of New Testament Interpretation at Redeemer Theological Seminary.

Dr. Greg Perry is Vice President for Strategic Projects at Third Millennium Ministries (formerly Associate Professor of New Testament and Director of City Ministry Initiative at Covenant Theological Seminary).

Dr. Scott Redd is Campus President of Reformed Theological Seminary in Washington, D.C. and Assistant Professor of Old Testament.

Rev. Dr. Michael Walker is Theologian-in-residence at Highland Park Presbyterian Church in Dallas, TX.

Rev. Dr. Thurman Williams is Associate Pastor at Grace and Peace Fellowship in St. Louis, MO.

GLOSSARY

Eusebius – (A.D. 263-340) Early Christian historian who wrote *Ecclesiastical History*

Hellenistic – Of or relating to Greek civilization, culture, or language, after the time of Alexander the Great

James (apostle) – Son of Zebedee and brother of John; martyred under Herod Agrippa

James (brother of Jesus) – Jesus' halfbrother; leader of the church in Jerusalem and author of the New Testament book of James

Jerusalem Council – Meeting in Jerusalem recorded in Acts 15 where the apostles and church leaders addressed concerns in the early church; in particular, whether or not Gentiles were required to follow the Mosaic law to be saved

Josephus – (A.D. 37-ca. 100) Jewish historian from the 1st century A.D. who wrote *Antiquities*

kurios sabaoth – Greek term (transliteration) meaning "Lord Almighty" or "Lord of Hosts"

Origen – (ca. A.D. 185 - 254) Early Christian theologian from Alexandria; his works include: *On First Principles*, in which he defended the Scriptures as our final authority for Christian doctrine, and the *Hexapla*, a comparative study of various translations of the Old Testament

pseudonymity – The practice of assigning written works to someone other than the actual author

Stephen – A deacon in the early church at Jerusalem who was known for his faith and for being full of the Spirit of God; considered the first Christian martyr (see Acts 6–7)

synagogue – Place where Jews assembled for worship and instruction

Wisdom of Sirach, the – An influential book of wisdom, non-scriptural, written by Yeshua ben Sira, also known as "Sirach" or "Ecclesiasticus"; believed to have been written between 200-175 B.C.

Wisdom of Solomon, the – An influential book of wisdom, non-scriptural, also known as "the Book of Wisdom"; believed to have been written in the 1^{st} or 2^{nd} century B.C.